
PERSONNEL AND GENERAL 
PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 28th February, 2018

Time: 7.00 pm

Venue: Guildhall



2

PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE 
Members of the Sub-Committee:-

Chairman: Councillor Louis Stephen (G)
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Marc Bayliss (C) and Councillor Adrian Gregson (L)

Councillor Mrs. Lucy Hodgson (C)
Councillor Chris Mitchell (C)

Councillor Joy Squires (L)
Councillor Geoff Williams (L)

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour

Information for Members of the Public

Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access 
to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face 
the Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled 
parking space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground 
floor, which can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility 
and you wish to attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance 
and we will make any necessary arrangements to assist your visit.

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect copies of 
minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the 
preparation of these reports.  Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report.
Please note that this is a public meeting and  members of the public and press are permitted to report 
on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and 
providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 
proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the 
attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to 
attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded 
and for any footage to be broadcast or published. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items 
of 'Exempt or Confidential Information' for which the public are excluded from the meeting and neither 
reports nor background papers are open to public inspection.

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 
for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last 
working day before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned 
below.

If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background 
papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, 
film, video or sound recording, please contact the Lead Officer, Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 
Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722005 (direct line); E-
Mail Address:  committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk.

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 
minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information.

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available 
electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address: 
worcester.gov.uk

mailto:committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk


3

Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee
Wednesday, 28 February 2018

AGENDA

Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)

1. Appointment of Substitutes To receive details of any Members 
appointed to attend the meeting instead of 
a Member of the Sub-Committee.

2. Declarations of Interest To receive any declarations of interest.

3. Public Participation Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be 
allowed, each speaker being allocated a 
maximum of five minutes, for members of 
the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda or within the remit of the Sub-
Committee.

4. Minutes 
Page(s): 1 - 4

Of the meeting held on 13th December 2017

to be approved and signed.

5. Review of Local Decisions 
Page(s): 5 - 20
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Alison 

Braithwaite, 
Income 
Generation 
Project Manager

To approve the proposed amendments to 
the Local Conditions.

6. Sickness Absence Management 
Policy and Procedure 
Page(s): 21 - 36
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 

Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

That this revised Sickness Absence 
Management Policy & Procedure is 
approved by Personnel & General Purposes 
Committee.

7. Pensions Discretions Policy 
Page(s): 37 - 50
Ward(s): All Wards

That this revised policy on Pensions 
Discretions is approved by the Committee.



4

Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 
Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

8. Any Other Business Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of 
sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration.

PART II
(ITEM FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PRIVATE)

9. Amendment on the pay structure 
Page(s): 51 - 54
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 

Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

That the Sub-Committee recommends to 
Council adoption of the proposed 
amendments to the pay structure.



PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

13th December 2017

Present: Councillor Louis Stephen in the Chair

Councillors Gregson (Vice-Chairman), 
Mrs L. Hodgson, S. Hodgson, J. Squires and 
G. Williams

Officers:       David Blake, Managing Director. Mark 
Edwards, Head of People Services.

Apologies: Councillor Bayliss

16 Appointment of Substitutes 

Councillor Stephen Hodgson substituted for Councillor Bayliss (Vice-Chairman.)

17 Declarations of Interest 

None.

18 Public Participation 

None.

19 Minutes 

RESOLVED THAT: the minutes of the meetings held on 28th June 2017, 
30th August 2017 and 1st September 2017 be approved as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

AMENDED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 13th November 2017 
be approved as a correct record subject to Item 15 being amended to 
include the sentence: “They further agreed that the Pension  Discretions 
Policy should be amended to allow further such requests to be considered 
in the future.”

20 Options to Improve Sickness Absence Across The Council 

The Head of People Services presented a report regarding the adoption of a 24/7 
telephone line Absence Management Service. It was noted that although absence 
figures have previously decreased they are again rising. 

The introduction of such a service was discussed. It was explained that  Line 
managers would receive an email explaining that an employee had called in sick, 
but would still undertake a return to work interview. A qualified Occupational 
Health Nurse would be better placed to advise staff on their illness and recovery. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



13th December 2017 2

A 25% improvement in sickness is expected, this is backed up by looking at case 
studies. It was noted that the Unions were broadly in favour with a few 
reservations. They would like the proposal to be re-examined in 12 months.

There was further discussion regarding Well-being Initiatives. All agreed these 
were a good idea, but feedback from the workforce was required.

RESOLVED THAT: the Sub-Committee: 

1. approve the introduction of an Independent Absence Management 
System which includes a dedicated 24/7 telephone line. Nurse-led 
telephone reviews and real-time management reports, and 

2. approve investing in well-being initiatives to proactively assist 
employees in staying healthy at work, encouraging good lifestyle 
choices and to make the Council an attractive place to work.

21 Redundancy, Redeployment and Change Management Policies 

The Head of People Services presented his report on Redundancy, Redeployment 
and Change Management Policies to the Sub-Committee.

The current policies came into effect in December 2008 and were therefore long 
overdue for review. Trade Unions had been consulted and supported the revised 
policies.

RESOLVED THAT: the Sub-Committee approve the adoption if the 
Redundancy, Redeployment and Change Management Policies.

22 Labour Market Forces Supplement Policy 

The Head of People Services presented his report on Labour Market Forces 
Supplement Policy. 

In order to attract and retain high performing staff with the skills, knowledge and 
experience to meet the changing needs of service delivery a Labour Market Forces 
Supplement policy would ensure that when grading for a post results in an 
inability to successfully recruit to ensure the post is filled. 

Trade Unions have also been consulted and supported the policy.

RESERVED THAT: the Sub-Committee agree to adopt the a new Labour 
Market Forces Supplement Policy following the implementation of 
Paymatters. 

23 Review of Subsistence  Expenses for  Employees 

The Head of People Services presented his report regarding Subsistence Expenses 
for Employees. The current rates in use had not been amended since 1997. The 
proposed amendment would bring Subsistence rates in line with HRMC.

The Sub-Committee discussed Mileage rates. These are currently 45p per mile for 
vehicles and 20p per mile for bicycles.

Page 2



13th December 2017 3

It was felt that greener cars with lower emissions should benefit from a higher 
mileage allowance. The Committee felt this needed further discussion. 

RESOLVED THAT: The Sub-Committee approve the proposed amendments 
to existing Subsistence rates in line with HRMC with the stipulation that a 
higher rate for greener vehicles should be further investigated. 
 

24 Any Other Business 

The Chairman agreed to consider this matter as an item if urgent business. There 
was a discussion regarding Safeguarding Training for Members and whether this 
should be mandatory. It was noted that the current Workforce Development plan 
does not address the inclusion of Members.

The Sub-Committee went on to consider other training including Health and 
Safety, ICT Security and Prevent training.

RESOLVED THAT: The Sub-Committee agreed that Training for Members 
should be included in the agenda of the next meeting, scheduled for 28th 
February 2018.

25 Item Involving the Disclosure of Except Information 

RESOLVED THAT: under Section 100 (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the said 
Act.

26 Minutes (Exempt Items) 

It was noted that recruitment to the post of Corporate Director has now been 
concluded. Andrew Round has been appointed and will take up his role early in the 
new year.

RESOLVED THAT:  the minutes (exempt items) at the meetings held on 1st 
September 2017 be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman.

Duration of the meeting:  7 p.m. – 7.50 p.m.

Chairman at the meeting on
28th February 2018

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1  

Report to: Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee 28 February 2018

Report of: Alison Darbyshire, People Services Team Leader, People Services 

Subject: REVIEW OF LOCAL CONDITIONS

1. Recommendation

1.1 To approve the proposed amendments to the Local Conditions.

2. Background

2.1 The current Local conditions were approved 16 July 2015.

2.2 There have been some minor changes in how things are working in practice since 
then which need to be updated including:

2.2.1 Change of title from Service Manager to Head of Service

2.2.2 Change of Service Area from Human Resources to People Services

2.2.3 Clarification that Line managers may approve carry forward of leave up to 5 days 
and that it is pro rata for part time employees.

2.2.4 Deletion of section on Flexible working that is repeated in the relevant procedure 
and referred to in the contract.

2.2.5 Amend entitlement to overtime from scp 28 to scp 31 as 28 is in the middle of a 
grade. Analysis of additional posts that would technically qualify for overtime 
would suggest minimal impact on overtime costs.

2.2.6 Update to the new grades following Paymatters for notice of termination of 
employment.

2.2.7 Amendment to the Leisure discounts to reflect changes following moving to 
Freedom Leisure including changing the rate from 50% to 25% discount for 
connected members although there are now more leisure facilities available (7 
across the region) and removal of the golf discount as the Golf course has moved 
to Ravenmeadow.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
Minimal implications on overtime for scp 28 to 31.

3.2 Legal and Governance Implications
None.

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



2  

3.3 Risk Implications
Risk of employees not being clear on the latest changes as summarised above.

3.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None.  

3.5 Equality Implications
None.

3.6 Human Resources Implications
As above.

3.7 Health and Safety Implications
None.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Alison Darbyshire, People Services Team Leader 01905 

721159.  alison.darbyshire@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: none 
 

Page 6

mailto:alison.darbyshire@worcester.gov.uk


$nedrr0ky.docx   Page 1 of 13

Worcester City Council

LOCAL CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 2018

(Incorporating Collective Agreements 2012 & 2013)

(Supplementing the National Agreement)

MUSEUM & ART GALLERY
FOREGATE STREET
WORCESTER
WR1 1DT

Date agreed: 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 2 of 13

Contents
1. Scope...........................................................................................................3
2. Change of Head Office Address ........................................................................3
3. Pay and Deductions........................................................................................3
3.1. Monthly Salaries - Pay Date ............................................................................3
3.2. Operative Date - Salaries and Allowances..........................................................3
3.3. Advance Salary Payments ...............................................................................3
3.4. Basic pay (update from collective agreement 2012)............................................3
3.5. Sick pay and Industrial Accident sick pay ..........................................................3
3.6. Car allowances ..............................................................................................4
3.7. Working arrangements ...................................................................................4
3.8. Standby & Call out – update from agreement effective 1.11.13 ............................4
3.9. NJC for craft workers......................................................................................5
3.10. Shift Allowance (update from collective agreement 2012)....................................5
3.11. Voluntary Deductions from Salary ....................................................................5

a) Orchard Healthcare (previously Worcester Hospital Contributors Association) .........5
b) Trade Union Subscriptions...............................................................................5
c) Charitable Giving ...........................................................................................5

4. Working Hours/Arrangements and Overtime......................................................5
4.1. Overtime ......................................................................................................6
4.2. Extreme Weather Conditions ...........................................................................7
4.3. Civil Emergency Plan ......................................................................................7
5. Leave...........................................................................................................7
5.1. Annual Leave ................................................................................................7
5.2. Fixed Christmas Holidays ................................................................................8
5.3. Special Leave ................................................................................................8
5.4. Service in Non-Regular Forces .........................................................................9
5.5. Jury Service ................................................................................................10
5.6. Time Off for Public Duties..............................................................................10
6. Benefits ......................................................................................................10
6.1. Payment of Professional Subscriptions ............................................................10
6.2. Long Service Awards ....................................................................................10
6.3. Injuries to Employees ...................................................................................10
7. Leisure Opportunities....................................................................................11
7.1. Concessionary Rates - Use of Sports Centre Facilities ........................................11
7.2. Concessionary Rates – For Worcester Racecourse .............................................12
7.3. Concessionary Rates – For Hire of Grass pitches...............................................12
7.4. Angling Permits - Pitchcroft ...........................................................................12
7.5. Conditions Relating to Concessionary Usage ....................................................12
8. General ......................................................................................................12
8.1. Notice of Termination of Employment .............................................................12
8.2. Private Work and Other Employment ..............................................................13
8.3. Professional Indemnification ..........................................................................13
8.4. Sickness absence & third party recoverable damages ........................................14

Page 8



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 3 of 13

1. Scope
These local conditions of service apply to all employees of the Council.

Please refer to your line manager in the first instance or People Services if you 
require further clarification.

2. Change of Head Office Address
The Worcester City Council Head Office address changed from Orchard House, Farrier 
Street, Worcester, to Museum & Art Gallery (MAG), Foregate Street, Worcester WR1 
1DT effective from 16 February 2015.  All staff previously located at the Orchard 
House complex are contractually re-located to the Museum & Art Gallery (as their 
main base unless otherwise specified) from this date.

3. Pay and Deductions

3.1. Monthly Salaries - Pay Date
Payment of monthly salaries is made by credit transfer on the 21st day of each 
month unless that is a non-banking day in which case payment is made on the 
preceding banking day.  Pay slips will normally be made available electronically 
through the Worklife system.

3.2. Operative Date - Salaries and Allowances
All resolutions affecting pay and allowances shall become operative from the first day 
of the month in which Council or Cabinet approval is obtained, unless a date is 
approved and appears in the minute of approval.

3.3. Advance Salary Payments 
For employees who commence after the payroll cut-off  in cases of extreme hardship, 
advance payment of two weeks basic pay can be made to new employees, on 
request, at the end of their first fortnight’s employment and will be recovered from 
the first normal salary payment.

3.4. Basic pay (update from collective agreement 2012)
Following a deviation from the pay settlement’s agreed by the NJC for Local 
Government Services, (detailed in Collective agreement 2012) with effect from the 
year commencing 1st April 2016, the Council will reiterate its long term commitment 
to national pay bargaining and return to paying the annual cost of living awards in 
accordance with the relevant national agreements.        

3.5. Sick pay and Industrial Accident sick pay
Sick Pay: Subject to the maximum periods that an employee qualifies for sick pay in 
accordance with service provisions set out in the national agreement, contractual pay 
will be paid at the rate of 90% of normal salary, inclusive of Statutory Sick Pay (for 
any period defined as full pay in the national agreement).  Periods of ‘half pay’ 
thereafter will be as set out in the national agreement and so Statutory Sick Pay will 
be paid in addition to half pay. 

Industrial Accident Sick Pay: A temporary arrangement with the trade unions has 
been put in place to pay 100% sick pay to staff who are sick due to an accident at 

Page 9



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 4 of 13

work where the accident is fully reported on the day.  This arrangement is subject to 
review and may be discontinued by the Council at the end of a review scheduled for 
2018.

3.6. Car allowances 
Staff using their own cars on business related travel will be paid a mileage allowance 
at the HMRC approved mileage rate (currently 45 pence per mile).                                                                                  

3.7. Working arrangements 
Staff who are required to work additional hours beyond 37 per week will receive 
overtime payment at ‘plain time’ for such additional hours worked between Mondays 
and Saturdays, and ‘time and a half’ for such additional hours worked on Sundays or 
Public Holidays (see 4.2. Overtime’ for eligibility).

Ordinarily, staff are not contractually obliged to work additional hours beyond their 
normal working hours.  However, specified staff working within the refuse collection 
service will be contractually required, to make themselves available (unless they are 
absent on sick leave or annual leave), for a maximum of 20 days over any two year 
period, to undertake additional hours to ‘catch up’ on collections following 
Christmas, Easter, other public holidays and periods where severe weather has 
prevented ordinary collection.  In return for this contractual commitment, in addition 
to overtime pay, a payment of £240 per annum, to be paid monthly, will be made.

Where, as part of the normal working week, staff are required to work on Sundays or 
Public Holidays, such working hours will be paid at ‘time and a half’ (known as 
‘Enhanced’ weekend working’).  Work at all other times, undertaken as part of 
the normal working week, will be paid at the normal hourly rate.

3.8. Standby & Call out – update from agreement effective 1.11.13
a) Employees who may be required to be called out to work outside their normal 

working hours, may be put on standby and paid the agreed Standby rate (currently 
£100 per week).

b) Apart from within the Strategic Housing Service where certain individuals are 
contractually required to be on call out as part of their Statutory role, other staff, if 
requested by their line manager, may volunteer to be called out.

c) An employee who is paid standby is required to work if they are called out and any 
call out (including telephone work) will be paid at the following rate regardless of 
grade:

o Monday to Saturday - £9 per hour

o Sunday - £13.50 per hour

d) The minimum call out payment will be 30 minutes (this means that if a call out lasts 
10 minutes, 30 minutes may be claimed at the appropriate rate).  

e) An employee who is called out to work will be entitled to the daily rest periods 
detailed in the working time regulations (Currently if you are an adult worker you 
have the right to a break of at least 11 hours between working days. This means as 
an adult worker, if you finish work at 8.00 pm on Monday and normally start work at 

Page 10



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 5 of 13

6am you should not start work until 7.00 am on Tuesday, although you will be paid 
from your normal start time.)

3.9. NJC for craft workers
The City Council and the trade unions agree that the terms and conditions for the 
NJC for Craft Workers (‘Red Book’) will no longer be recognised and all such staff will 
be within the same terms and conditions of service as other staff, (the National Joint 
Council (NJC) for Local Government Services, save for such modifications contained 
within this agreement and any further local modifications that may be collectively 
agreed in the future).

3.10.Shift Allowance (update from collective agreement 2012)
With effect from 1st April 2014 and thereafter a shift allowance of 7% of basic salary, 
will be paid to staff who work on a shift pattern of two or more shifts where:

- the total period covered by the shifts is 11 hours or more 

- there are at least four hours between the starting time of the earliest shift and the 
starting time of the latest shift

- at least half of the shifts on the rota have working hours outside the hours of 
8.00am to 6.00pm

- there are at least 14 hours between the starting time of the earliest shift and the 
finishing time of the latest shift

3.11.Voluntary Deductions from Salary
The following voluntary deductions may, at the employee's request, be made from 
salary:

a) Orchard Healthcare (previously Worcester Hospital Contributors Association)

A scheme that provides certain financial benefits in the event of hospitalisation, 
dental and certain other forms of medical treatment is available.  It is NOT a private 
health care scheme.  Details may be obtained from People Services or the Intranet.

b) Trade Union Subscriptions

May only be deducted if at least 20 members of the same Union authorise deductions 
to be made.

c) Charitable Giving

A give as you earn scheme whereby employees may donate money to charities of 
their choice.

4. Working Hours/Arrangements and Overtime

4.1. Overtime
a) All overtime (with the exception of emergency call outs) must be approved in 

advance by the appropriate line manager.

b) Normally overtime is only payable to employees paid below SCP 32, i.e. those in 
receipt of a salary of SCP 31 or less.

c) Wherever time off in lieu is granted as an alternative to payment for overtime, then 

Page 11



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 6 of 13

only the equivalent time off is allowed, i.e. there is no enhancement of time off in 
lieu.

d) Employees paid SCP 32 or above, excluding Heads of Service, are only eligible for 
overtime in the following circumstances:

i) For emergency call out outside normal working hours. (see 4.e for how this applies to 
employees subject to flexi-time working hours)

ii) When required to attend any meeting as part of their duties outside normal office 
hours and compensatory leave of absence in lieu is not granted.

iii)When required to work to maintain essential services outside normal working hours 
and the Head of Service has not granted equivalent time off in lieu - payable at plain 
time rate.

e) In the case of employees subject to flexi-time working hours:

i) The requirement that overtime working must be approved in advance is to be strictly 
observed and under no circumstances can 'excess' time worked as a result of flexible 
working hours rank for payment as overtime.

ii) Overtime is not payable in respect of work carried out between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 
p.m. unless

 The prior approval of the appropriate Head of Service has been obtained.
 The employee is at the maximum 'carry forward figure' of plus 20 hours, and

 Copies of the relevant time sheets are submitted with the claim form.

f) In the case of part-time and job share employees, payment at overtime rates may be 
made where they are required to attend any meeting as part of their duties outside 
their normal working hours and outside their flexible working hours provisions.

g) It should be noted that the conditions of service provide that

i) Extra time of less than half an hour on any day does not rank for overtime.

ii) Overtime is aggregated for each calendar month and only complete half hours paid 
for.

4.2. Extreme Weather Conditions
In the event of extreme weather conditions the Managing Director may decide that 
normal working hours may be suspended for the day, in which case all Heads of 
Service will be notified immediately.  All employees who are at work when normal 
working is suspended shall record their normal working hours (e.g. 7 hours 24 
minutes in the case of full time employees subject to flexible working hours) or the 
actual time worked, whichever is the greater.  An employee who does not arrive at 
work at all in such extreme weather conditions shall be required to make up the 
shortfall in working hours by working additional hours at a later date, under the flexi-
time working hours scheme or otherwise, or by taking annual or unpaid leave.  At the 
discretion of the line manager, employees could work from home, if they have prior 
arrangements and equipment.

4.3. Major Emergency Plan
Employees listed in the Major Emergency Plan will be required to attend an 
emergency when called out if available.  Payment will be made in accordance with 
the normal Council policy.

Page 12



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 7 of 13

5. Leave

5.1. Annual Leave
a) Annual leave entitlement will be 25 days (plus one ‘fixed day’ at Christmas) for all 

staff, or 30 days (plus one ‘fixed day’ at Christmas) where, at the start of the annual 
leave year, they have completed five years’ continuous local government service.  

b) The City Council reserves the right to declare, no less than six months in advance, 
that all or part of its service will close for an additional day at Christmas / New Year, 
in which case one day will be deducted from affected employees’ annual leave 
entitlement for the relevant year.  

c) Taking leave is part of maintaining a healthy work life balance and we would like all 
our employees to take their full entitlement each year.  On rare occasions where this 
has not been possible, up to five days annual leave (pro rata for part time 
employees) may be carried over to the end of the first quarter of the individual leave 
year, for example for a leave year commencing on 1 June 2015 up to 5 days annual 
leave not taken by 31 May 2016 may be carried forward for up to three months until 
the end of August 2016, subject to the needs of the service and the approval of the 
Head of Service or their delegated line manager.

d) Up to five days leave (pro rata for part time employees) may be brought forward 
from the new leave year to be used in an emergency, subject to the needs of the 
service and the approval of the appropriate line manager.

5.2. Fixed Christmas Holidays
The additional fixed day to be taken at Christmas will normally be as follows:

Christmas Day 
Falls On:

                 Christmas Holidays

Monday Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday (25th-27th December)

Tuesday Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday (24th-26th December)

Wednesday Wednesday, Thursday, Friday (25th-27th December)

Thursday Wednesday, Thursday, Friday (24th-26th December)

Friday Friday, Monday Tuesday (25th, 28th, 29th December)

Saturday Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday (27th-29th December)

Sunday Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday (26th-28th December)

Special arrangements may need to be made where the establishment or employee 
does not conform to the usual Monday - Friday working arrangements.

A pro rata entitlement applies to part time employees.

Where an employee is required by the Council to work over this period, they may 
take this fixed day on a mutually convenient alternative date as soon as possible 
after this date.

5.3. Special Leave
a) With Pay

Page 13



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 8 of 13

Heads of Service are authorised to grant, for any reason, a maximum of seven days 
special leave with pay in any year ending 31st March (any longer period is subject to 
the approval of the Personnel and General Purposes Committee.  Specifically leave 
with pay is granted under this paragraph in the following cases:

i) on polling day for an employee who is a candidate in a parliamentary, European 
or local election;

ii) to enable employees to attend for interview for another appointment within local 
government;

iii) on polling day for an employee required to undertake official duties on behalf of 
the Returning Officer or equivalent;

iv) in respect of hospital, medical or dental appointments (see also Flexi time 
procedure).  The seven days annual maximum mentioned above does not apply 
in these circumstances.

v) in respect of family bereavement normally as follows:

a. A relative or partner who resided with the employee, or an employee's parent or 
guardian, son or daughter irrespective of where they resided - normally 3 days 
including the day of the funeral.

b. 1 day to attend the funeral of a grandparent, brother, sister, father-in-law, 
mother-in-law, son-in-law or daughter-in-law, or the equivalent if part of a 
common-law or same sex relationship (individual circumstances will be taken in 
account following discussions with the Head of People Services).

b) Without Pay

Head of Services are authorised to grant any period appropriate to the circumstances 
of the case.

Emergency Leave 

The appropriate line manager can approve either annual leave, flexitime leave or 
unpaid leave for instances such as childcare or eldercare needs, at short notice.

This will only be an ad hoc or emergency arrangement.  Any longer term or regular 
requirements could be agreed under the flexible working policy or parental leave 

5.4. Service in Non-Regular Forces
Head of Services may grant unpaid leave for up to two weeks for employees required 
to attend their Annual Training camp with the Reserve Forces, time off for Trade 
Union Activities, etc.

a) Reasonable time off (with or without pay) to be granted by the Head of Service in 
accordance with the Code of Practice issued by the Advisory, Conciliation and 
Arbitration Service.

b) For UNISON Branch Executive and GMB equivalent meetings, and for Joint 
Consultative Committee subject to the needs of the service, delegates are permitted 
to attend meetings and to claim the duration of the meeting, under the flexible hours 
arrangements, or as TOIL if not employed on flexible hours scheme.

c) Leave with pay to be granted for two UNISON representatives to attend the UNISON 
Annual Conference and for one representative of other recognised unions to attend 

Page 14



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 9 of 13

the Annual Conference.

d) Reasonable time off to be granted to Safety Representatives by the Head of Service 
in accordance with the official Codes of Practice.

5.5. Jury Service
Any employee who receives a summons to serve on a jury must report the fact to 
the Head of Service who shall grant leave of absence unless exemption is secured.

The employee must claim the maximum allowance for loss of earnings to which 
he/she is entitled and this amount is deducted from full salary.

5.6. Time Off for Public Duties
Provided that the Head of Service has given approval, time off is granted as follows:

a) Service as a Justice of the Peace (Magistrate)

Leave with pay.

b) Other Public Duties (as defined in employment legislation)

Reasonable time off with pay subject to a maximum of 7 days in any year ending 
31st March.

Public duties for this purpose include duties as:

i) a Member of a local authority (including a Parish Council or a County Council 
established under the Local Government Act 1972);

ii) a Member of any statutory tribunal;

iii) a Member of a NHS body; and

iv) a Governor of a grant-maintained school, higher education corporation, Academy 
or educational establishment maintained by a local education authority.

6. Benefits

6.1. Payment of Professional Subscriptions
Where it is a requirement of their job, specified in the person specification and 
agreed as such by their Head of Service, or in the case of Heads of Service or 
Directors, by their manager, an employee may be reimbursed 50% of the cost of the 
annual subscription to one professional association or institute.

6.2. Long Service Awards
An award of a gift of up to £250 (incl VAT) in value is made to employees after they 
have completed 25 years continuous service with Worcester City Council.

6.3. Injuries to Employees
a) Arising from Assault in the Course of Employment

In the event of permanent disablement or death arising from a violent or criminal 
assault suffered by the employee in the course or as a consequence of employment 
then payments in accordance with the national conditions of service are made.  
Details are available from People Services.

Page 15



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 10 of 13

The Deputy Director, Governance is authorised to provide legal assistance and 
representation to any employee who is assaulted in the course of employment where 
the employee is unable or unwilling to obtain such assistance from a trade union.  
The Deputy Director, Governance must be satisfied that the case has a reasonable 
prospect of success and that there is no conflict between the Council's interests and 
the employee's interest.

b) Personal Accident Insurance

The Council has taken out an insurance policy whereby compensation may be paid in 
the event of an accident in the course of or travelling to and from work causing 
disablement or death.  Details are available from People Services.

7. Leisure Opportunities 

7.1. Concessionary Rates - Use of Sports Centre Facilities  
(A valid staff ID badge must be produced at the time of application)

All employees subject to the local conditions of service are entitled to use the 
facilities listed below in the Membership Further Information section at the following 
concessionary rates:-

Activity Charge Further Information

Fitness 
Introductions                        

Free When available to the public

Booking Card Free Allows booking for courts and 
classes up to 10 days in 
advance

Membership 25% off the 
standard rate

‘Connected’ membership covers 
all 3 Worcester leisure centres 
(Perdiswell Leisure Centre Tel: 
01905 457189, St Johns Sports 
Centre Tel: 01905 429900 & 
Nunnery Wood Sports Complex 
Tel: 01905 357842) plus the 
Malvern sites (Splash Tel: 
01684 893423 and the joint use 
facilities at Sport Martley Tel: 
01886 888999 & Dyson Perrins 
Tel: 01684 572645)

Individual activities - Gym 
Sessions, Fitness Classes, 
Racket Sports, Athletics 
Track.
Also includes non-sporting 
activities such as concerts 
etc.

25% off the 
standard rate

When available to the general 
public and excluding group 
activities such as the hire of the 
Sports Halls or All Weather 
Pitches.

7.2. Concessionary Rates – For Worcester Racecourse
Horse Race Meetings 50% off the Tel: 01905 25364 for further 

Page 16



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 11 of 13

standard charge details (Annual discount code 
required)

7.3. Concessionary Rates – For Hire of Grass pitches 
Hire of Grass Pitches 
(accredited City Council 
teams only)

50% off the 
standard charge

When available to the public

7.4. Angling Permits - Pitchcroft
Employees are permitted to angle from the river bank at Pitchcroft in accordance 
with the scheme applicable to residents of the City.

Applications for permits, which will be granted free of charge, should be made to the 
Head of Operations.  (Any licence required must still be obtained by the employee).

7.5. Conditions Relating to Concessionary Usage
a) Once a booking card has been issued this should be presented on arrival at the 

reception desks of the leisure centres listed above and the staff will then swipe the 
card to record details of the activity undertaken. The system will automatically 
charge the discounted fee.

b) When attending any other venue a valid staff ID badge must be produced in order to 
obtain the concession and use the facility.  The ID badges contain a photo and are 
therefore non transferable, and can be obtained from People Services but must be 
surrendered on leaving the Council's employment.

c) The right is reserved to withhold any available concession if any particular activity 
ceases to be viable.

d) Employees only to benefit from the concession.

e) Employees can book facilities 10 days in advance.

f) The concessions apply to sporting, leisure or fitness facilities only.  Concessions do 
not apply to goods, food and drink or other refreshments or to ‘one off’ concerts etc. 
where admittance is by ticket only.

g) The concessions apply only to activities controlled by the Council or their appointed 
representatives, activities controlled by outside agencies are not included.

h) This concessionary scheme is subject to review in consultation with the Unions.

8. General

8.1. Notice of Termination of Employment
The period of notice of leaving which an employee is required to give to the Council is 
as follows:-

Heads of Service and Directors 3 calendar months

Employees graded PTC up to but excluding Head of Service 2 calendar months

Page 17



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 12 of 13

Others 1 calendar month

8.2. Private Work and Other Employment
Under the national conditions of service, an employee paid above SCP28 is prohibited 
from engaging in any other business or taking up any other additional appointment 
without the express consent of the Head of Service in consultation with Head of 
People Services.  In addition to this national provision the following local conditions 
also apply, irrespective of grade.

a) No employee may prepare plans or do any work for any development within the area 
of the authority (except where related to the employee’s own property).

b) No employee may do any work which might conflict with the Council's interests or 
the Working Time Directive.

c) Lectures etc. during working hours may be undertaken at the Head of Service’s 
discretion but any fees received are payable to the Council unless retention by the 
officer is specifically agreed by the Head of Service on consultation with the Head of 
People Services.

d) Enrolment as a Retained Fire-fighter or Special Constable is generally permitted in 
the local emergency services but nevertheless each case is subject to the approval of 
the Personnel and General Purposes Committee.

8.3. Professional Indemnification
The Council will, subject to the exceptions set out below, indemnify its employees 
and former employees against claims made against them (including costs awarded) 
and will not itself make claims against them for any loss or damage (other than 
claims falling within the cover provided to its employees or former employees under 
any policy of insurance taken out by the Council or any motor vehicle insurance 
policy taken out by the employee) occasioned by neglect, act, error or omission 
committed by the employees or former employees whilst acting in good faith and 
reasonably believing that they are acting in or about the pursuit of their duties on 
behalf of the Council and within the defined or assumed scope of their authority.

The Council will similarly indemnify its employees whilst properly engaged on work 
within the jurisdiction of another local government authority, government 
department or other body for whom they are authorised by the Council to do any 
work.

Exceptions - The indemnity will not extend to loss or damage directly or indirectly 
caused by or arising from:

a) fraud, dishonesty or criminal offence on the part of the employee (except where the 
criminal offence is an offence under the provisions of the Health and Safety at Work 
Act 1974, or relevant statutory provisions within the meaning of the Act, in which 
case the indemnity will continue to apply);

b) any neglect, error or omission by the employee other than acting in good faith and 
reasonably believing that he/she is acting in or about the pursuit of his/her duties 
and acting within the defined or assumed scope of his/her authority;

c) liabilities imposed by the District Auditor and/or the Court under Section 161 of the 
Local Government Act 1972.

Page 18



$nedrr0ky.docx Page 13 of 13

The indemnity will not apply if an employee or former employee, without the written 
authority of the Council, admits liability or negotiates a settlement of any claim 
falling within the scope of this resolution with a third party.

8.4. Sickness absence & third party recoverable damages
If sickness absence is caused by the actionable negligence of a third party in respect 
of which damages are recoverable then any sums paid by the Council shall constitute 
loans to that member of staff, who shall:

1. forthwith notify the Council of all the relevant circumstances and of any claim, 
compromise, settlement or judgment made or awarded in connection therewith;

2. if the Council requires a refund of such sums as the Council may determine, not 
exceeding whichever is the lower of:

i) the amount of damages recovered under any compromise, settlement or 
judgment; and

ii) the sums advanced in respect of the period of incapacity.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



$pue0d4zq.docx 1 Author: A Darbyshire

Report to: Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee 28 February 2018

Report of: Head of People Services 

Subject: SICKNESS ABSENCE  MANAGEMENT POLICY & PROCEDURE

1. Recommendation

1.1 That this revised Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure is approved 
by Personnel & General Purposes Committee.

2. Background

2.1 The current Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure was originally 
approved in 28 January 2016 and is due to be reviewed.

2.2 Personnel & General Purposes Committee recently approved a nurse led approach 
to reporting sickness and this needed to be incorporated into the revised 
procedure.  Key changes include:

2.2.1 New reporting process into Firstcare nurse led provider

2.2.2 Removal of reference to “Fit for work” which will be shut down in March 2018

2.2.3 HR/Human Resources updated to People Services

2.2.4 Service Managers updated to Head of Service 

3. Implications

3.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
None (the introduction of First care has already been approved).

3.2 Legal and Governance Implications
None.

3.3 Risk Implications
None. 

3.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
Disciplinary policy if this policy is not followed correctly.

3.5 Equality Implications
None.

3.6 Human Resources Implications
This is a key HR policy which must be communicated to all workers.

Page 21 Agenda Item 6



$pue0d4zq.docx 2 Author: A Darbyshire

3.7 Health and Safety Implications
None Identified.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, Telephone 01905 72042
                                      Email mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers: None 

Page 22



Worcester City Council

Page 1 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

Worcester City Council

SICKNESS ABSENCE 
MANAGEMENT POLICY 
& PROCEDURE
DATE 2018
Title Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure
Status
Document Version V0.1
Author Alison Darbyshire
Sponsor Mark Edwards
Owner People Services
Approved by P&GP
Approved date
Review frequency Bi-annual
Next Review: 2020

Version History
Version Date Description
0.1 3/1/2018 First draft of amended policy

Page 23 Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



Worcester City Council

Page 2 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

Contents

Contents2

1 Purpose...............................................................................................................................3

2 Scope ..................................................................................................................................3

2.1 Exclusions ...........................................................................................................................3

3 Sickness Absence Notification Procedure ..........................................................................3

4 Return to Work ....................................................................................................................4

4.1 Phased Return to Work.......................................................................................................5

5. Sick Pay ..............................................................................................................................5

6. Medical and dental appointments .......................................................................................5

7. Annual leave .......................................................................................................................5

8. Disabled employees............................................................................................................6

9. Absences relating to mental stress or physical strains .......................................................6

10. Working during absences....................................................................................................6

11. General ...............................................................................................................................7

12 Managing Sickness Absence ..............................................................................................7

12.1 Managing Short-term sickness absence procedure............................................................7
12.2 Managing Long-term sickness absence procedure ............................................................9
12.3 Termination of Employment – Long Term Sickness absence...........................................11

13 Appendix 1 ........................................................................................................................13

13.1 Recording Sickness Absence Procedure..........................................................................13

Page 24



Worcester City Council

Page 3 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

1 Purpose
If our employees are absent from work and unable to perform their duties, the quality 
of the services we provide will suffer.  The purpose of this policy is to provide a 
framework to manage and support employees who are unable to work due to illness 
and either assist them back to work, or find an alternative solution as quickly as 
possible.

2 Scope
This Policy applies to all Worcester City Council employees.

2.1 Exclusions
Absence during the probation period will be dealt with under the probation process 
and is outside the scope of this policy, although absence during probation will count 
towards the 12 month rolling trigger points.

Individuals who take unauthorised absence, or who abuse the sick pay provision 
(including taking sick leave when not genuinely medically sick, for instance to care for 
dependants, which should be requested under annual or special leave) or fail to 
follow the notification procedures will be dealt with under the disciplinary 
procedure as appropriate and may have their pay stopped for the period of 
unauthorised absence.

3 Sickness Absence Notification Procedure
Failure to follow this procedure may result in sick pay being delayed or withheld and 
may lead to action under the Disciplinary procedure for failing to follow procedure.  

At any time the Council may seek medical opinion as to an employee’s state of health.  
Employees may be required to undergo a medical examination by a doctor nominated 
by the Council.  Employees may not be allowed to return to work following sickness 
absence until the Council’s nominated doctor has declared them fit to return.  Where 
employees are declared fit by the Council’s nominated doctor they must return to 
work.

Managers should keep in touch with staff during sickness absence to understand any 
areas of work which need to be covered and to offer support to sick employees as 
required.

An occupational health assessment referral should be arranged for all employees after 
4 weeks of continual absence.

Employees who are absent from work due to sickness or injury must:

i. notify the Council via the dedicated sickness reporting process (see 
Appendix 1) by 9:30 am (or at least half an hour before the beginning of their 
shift if service area requirements so justify) on their first day of absence.  A 
telephone call from the employee is required on the first notification and to 

Page 25



Worcester City Council

Page 4 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

maintain contact throughout the absence (although in exceptional 
circumstances whereby the employee is unable to phone, the employee may 
allow a family or friend to phone through their notification on their behalf);  

ii. give a reason for the absence and an anticipated return date which will be 
agreed with the Council’s sickness reporting contact and to maintain regular 
contact, if the return date is not known).  If unable to return to work by the 
date stated the employee must again notify the Council via the agreed 
notification process;

iii. ensure they submit a ‘Fit note’ that states not fit for work to People 
Services, issued by a doctor (officially entitled  ‘Statement of Fitness for Work 
For social security or Statutory Sick Pay’) to cover for sickness absence of more 
than seven calendar days.  In addition, the Council reserves the right to 
request a Doctors Certificate when it is not required for SSP purposes, 
reimbursing the cost if necessary. 

iv. If follow-on certificates are issued by their doctor, each day must be covered 
without any break, otherwise pay will be affected.  It is the employee’s 
responsibility to make a doctor’s appointment to get continuation certificates 
before the previous one expires and to contact the agreed notification process to 
make them aware that they will remain off sick.  Doctors are not obliged to 
back-date certificates.

4 Return to Work
On return to work from sickness absence every employee is required to report their 
return to work in accordance with the sickness reporting process.  In addition 
employees are required to attend a return to work meeting with their line 
manager and a Return to Work Meeting must be held for all absences in accordance 
with the notification process. 

The line manager is responsible for ensuring that the return to work meeting takes 
place as soon as practicable on an employees return to work, but no later than 7 
calendar days (If the line manager is absent beyond this period another appropriate 
manager should hold this meeting to avoid unnecessary delay in ensuring the 
employee has the support in place to return to work).  

This meeting should: 

i. enable early identification of any issue which can impact on performance or the 
ability to attend work

ii. establish what, if any, support can be offered to the employee at the earliest 
opportunity (including Occupational health referral, Counselling, light duties or 
reduced hours for phased return etc.) 

Page 26



Worcester City Council

Page 5 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

iii. ensure the employee is aware of Worcester City Council’s expectations 
regarding attendance and the operation of this policy

iv. review the sickness history to identify if a trigger has been reached or if there 
are any absence patterns that are of concern e.g. absences on specific days in 
the year (e.g. birthday), absences starting or ending adjacent to non-working 
days.

4.1 Phased Return to Work
A Doctor may state that an employee may be fit for work taking account of the 
following advice: 

“If available, and with your employer’s agreement, you may benefit from: 
 a phased return to work; 
 altered hours; 
 amended duties; 
 workplace adaptations.”

If this is recommended, agreement must be made with the employee and their line 
manager on how to proceed with advice from People Services as appropriate.   

5. Sick Pay

In accordance with the Collective Agreement to modify terms and conditions of 
employment 2012, sick pay is payable during absence from 1 April 2013 as follows:-

During 1st year of service 1 month at 90% pay (and after completing 4 months 
service) 2 months half pay.

During 2nd year of service 2 months pay at 90% and 2 months half pay

During 3rd year of service 4 months pay at 90% and 4 months half pay

During 4th & 5th year of 
service

5 months pay at 90% and 5 months half pay

After 5 years service 6 months pay at 90% and 6 months half pay

6. Medical and dental appointments

It is expected that every effort must be made to arrange such appointments outside 
normal working hours (see also flexible working hours guidelines).  Where this is not 
possible, they should be booked at the start or end of the shift to minimise disruption 
to the working day.  Reasonable notice must be given to the line manager, who may 
also request appointment cards/letters in order to grant paid time off as appropriate.

Page 27



Worcester City Council

Page 6 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

7. Annual leave

Employees who fall ill whilst on pre-booked annual leave will be credited for the leave 
booked with effect from the date the doctor’s certificate was signed.

During periods of ill-health, employees will continue to accrue annual leave.  Statutory 
leave as defined in the Working Time Directive may be carried forward to the following 
year if it is not taken due to sickness absence.  Annual leave in excess of statutory 
leave will be lost.

Employees who are ill during public holidays or fixed days cannot re-claim annual 
leave.

Where an employee has exhausted their sick pay, it may be authorised that they take 
and be paid for annual leave during sick leave.

8. Disabled employees

The Council is committed to supporting and retaining its disabled employees, and 
employees are encouraged to disclose any disability they have to their line 
manager/People Services to access support.

Disabled employees may be referred to Occupational Health for advice on what 
adjustments the Council can make to their responsibilities, equipment or workplace, 
to enable them to carry out the functions of their post, such adjustments to be made 
in consultation with the employee, and the effectiveness monitored over a period of 
time.

Where a disabled employee’s condition is likely to lead to frequent, short-term 
sickness absences, this will be taken into consideration when monitoring attendance.

9. Absences relating to mental stress or physical strains

Where an absence occurs relating to stress or strain the employee will be given the 
opportunity as soon as possible to be referred to the approved Counsellor or 
Physiotherapist.  All such referrals are to be arranged by People Services and any 
costs are to be met by the Council.

If employees are absent relating to stress they should be referred to Occupational 
Health at the earliest opportunity.

10. Working during absences

Employee’s should not undertake any work – paid or otherwise – during their 
absence unless this is agreed by the Head of Service, although it is likely that such 
agreement will be withheld.  If therapeutic work is recommended the Council should 
be informed and will provide it where possible.

Page 28



Worcester City Council

Page 7 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

11. General

If an employee abuses the sickness scheme or is absent on account of sickness due 
or attributable to deliberate conduct prejudicial to recovery or the employee’s own 
misconduct or neglect or active participation in professional sport or injury while 
working in the employee’s own time on their own account or for private gain or for 
another employer sick pay may be suspended.

12 Managing Sickness Absence
There are two types of sickness absence, short term and long term (continuous over 
four weeks) absence, each requiring a different approach.  Formal warnings for 
sickness absence may be issued for both short term and long term sickness absence 
and may be considered together.

12.1 Managing Short-term sickness absence procedure
Absence in a 12 month rolling period which meets any of the following criteria and 
does not exceed 4 weeks continuous absence will be dealt with under the short term 
sickness absence procedure:

i. Four periods of absence, or

ii. A total of six working days or more, or

iii. Absence trends/patterns such as around non-working days, birthdays etc.

12.1.1 Sickness absence meetings
When an employee hits a trigger point, there will be a sickness absence meeting 
where the line manager will consider all the individual circumstances in accordance 
with the procedure set out below.  As a formal warning for sickness absence may be 
issued as an outcome of the meeting, the procedure must be carefully adhered to.

The Line manager will invite the employee to a meeting, in writing giving a minimum 
of 3 working days notice.  The letter will remind them of their right to be accompanied 
(by a trade union representative, colleague or an official employed by a trade union).

The meeting will be led by the line manager, and will have the purpose of fact finding, 
where possible establishing the cause of any absence and to offer assistance based on 
individual circumstances.  The line manager will cover the following matters as 
appropriate during the meeting:

i. Identify the frequency and reason for the absences and ensure that the 
employee is aware that their absence record may be giving cause for concern, 
and highlighting the impact on the rest of the team or authority.

ii. Advise the employee to seek medical attention to determine if there are 
grounds to consider that there might be an underlying medical problem, or 
refer to OH as appropriate,

Page 29



Worcester City Council

Page 8 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

iii. Give consideration to personal problems which may be causing the absences 
and offer possible ways of helping the employee to resolve them,

iv. If any temporary or permanent redeployment or reduction of duties/reasonable 
adjustment, or ill health retirement is required,

v. Explore whether the absences may be due to a work related injury; a disability 
defined within the Equality Act; or pregnancy, and take advice from the HR lead 
as appropriate,

vi. Agree a reasonable time within which the employee’s attendance can be 
assessed over the following 3 months,

vii. Confirm whether or not a formal warning for sickness absence will be issued on 
this occasion, providing reasons for the decision and indicate the next stage of 
the procedure if attendance does not improve, what constitutes satisfactory 
improvement will depend on the circumstances of the case, but in most cases 
an employee will be deemed to have improved sufficiently if they would not 
have reached the trigger points defined in 12.1 during the most recent 12 
months at the time of the review.

viii. Indicate that if sickness absence continues at a high level then the employee 
may be excluded from participating in any additional hours/overtime

The line manager must confirm in writing the outcome of the meeting within 7 
working days and place a copy on the personnel file.  The letter must include: 

 details of who attended the meeting and when it was held, 

 what was discussed and the actions agreed for both employee and line manager 
with relevant timescales (no longer than 3 months although a subsequent 
meeting can be held within this period if absence continues to be poor);

 confirmation on whether or not the outcome is a formal warning for sickness 
absence providing reasons for the decision and clarification that further 
absence may result in the employee receiving subsequent formal warnings for 
sickness absence, clarifying that 3 formal warnings for sickness absence in a 
rolling 12 month period will result in a sickness hearing which could result in 
dismissal. (Warnings under the Sickness Absence Management procedure and 
the Disciplinary procedure will remain separate and will not affect each other).

Where attendance has not improved following the first meeting (for further sickness 
absence that is over and above the initial trigger), the manager will convene another 
meeting as above but subsequent meetings will be accompanied by the relevant HR 
lead.  Meetings will be followed up in writing within 7 working days, issuing a 1st, 2nd 
and 3rd formal warning as appropriate.

Page 30



Worcester City Council

Page 9 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

12.1.2 Short-term sickness hearing which could lead to dismissal 
i. Following the issue of 3 formal warnings in a rolling 12 month period, the 

employee will be invited to a sickness hearing which could lead to dismissal, in 
writing:

 Stating that they may be accompanied by a trade union representative, 
colleague or an official employed by a trade union.

 Informing the employee that as a result of the meeting, their contract of 
employment may be terminated stating that the reason for dismissal is likely 
to be “some other substantial reason” and will usually be incapability due to 
persistent intermittent absence as a consequence of ill health although it may 
also be “Capability due to underlying health issues”. 

 And provided with a copy of the line manager’s report for consideration at the 
dismissal meeting.  

ii. The Dismissal meeting will be chaired by either a Head of Service or other 
manager delegated with the authority to dismiss and must be accompanied by 
a member of People Services.

iii. The purpose of the meeting is to consider all information in relation to the 
absences, including Occupational Health advice.  If appropriate the hearing 
manager may ask for further medical advice.

iv. The hearing manager should consider whether or not alternative employment, 
reasonable adjustments to the current role or ill-health retirement could and 
have been recommended prior to the decision to terminate employment.

v. If it is decided following the meeting that the contract of employment will be 
terminated, then the employee must be given due notice/pay in lieu of notice 
and any other additional outstanding payments e.g. annual leave.

vi. The outcome of the meeting must be communicated in writing, within 7 working 
days, by the hearing manager to the employee.  The letter must state that the 
employee has a right of appeal which must be submitted in writing with full 
reasons to the Managing Director within 10 working days of the receipt of the 
written notification of the dismissal.

12.2 Managing Long-term sickness absence procedure
Long term sickness absence is defined as a period of medically certified sickness 
which is continuous for at least four weeks.

12.2.1. When an employee is suffering a long term illness, Line Managers are 
expected to exercise judgement in respect of the appropriate timing of 

Page 31



Worcester City Council

Page 10 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

Occupational Health referrals and the scheduling of meetings based on the 
individual circumstances (e.g. it may not be appropriate to make arrangements 
if the employee is seriously ill or could not reasonably be expected to attend).  
People Services can advise as appropriate.

12.2.2. Normally after four weeks, or earlier if long term absence can be predicted, 
the manager should invite the employee to a meeting, accompanied by the 
relevant HR lead.  This must be confirmed in writing and may take place either 
at the employee’s home or workplace if their medical condition allows (the 
employee may be accompanied by a trade union representative, colleague or 
an official employed by a trade union).  

The meeting will

i. Help to gain further information relating to the absence,

ii.  Inform the employee that they will be referred to either the national ‘Fit for 
Work’ scheme or Occupational Health to establish the likely length of the 
absence and the long term effect on capability in relation to job performance 
and attendance at work,

iii. Address, where possible, any needs or concerns of the employee,

iv.  Determine whether the employee may qualify as having a disability under the 
Equality Act 2010,

v.  Consider offering appropriate alternative work if this would enable the 
employee to return to work

12.2.3. On receipt of the Occupational Health report a further meeting will be 
arranged with the line manager, HR lead, employee and their representative if 
requested.  The purpose of the meeting will be to discuss the report and to give 
consideration to the options available which may include:

i.   The employee being expected to be fully fit for their duties on an on-going 
basis in the near future, setting a possible start date and possibly including a 
phased return to work and/or temporary modification of duties for an interim 
duration,

ii.  The employee being capable of undertaking modified duties, giving 
consideration to making reasonable adjustments within the workplace (e.g. 
amended duties, part-time working, re-deployment, re-training)

iii.  If no improvement can be expected in the short term, stating when reviews 
will take place and whether the employee requires further medical treatment 
or referral

Page 32



Worcester City Council

Page 11 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

12.2.4.  Should the individual be unable to fulfil the duties of a post within the 
Council for the foreseeable future, considering whether an application for 
retirement on the grounds of ill health is recommended (an Occupational health 
doctor will be required to assess the case and any ill health retirement 
recommendations will be subject to the discretion of the employer). The 
employee must provide a contact point during the absence and maintain 
contact with their line manager, keeping them informed of any changes in 
condition and at regular intervals.  The manager will be able to contact the 
employee directly or via family members or other intermediaries (e.g. 
Occupational Health) depending on the medical condition and advice.  If an 
employee refuses to maintain contact sick pay may be withheld and the 
Disciplinary procedure may be invoked.

12.2.5. Dependant on circumstances, the employee may not be allowed to return to 
work until Occupational Health has declared them fit to return.  Where declared 
fit an employee must return to work.

12.2.6. A formal warning for sickness absence may be issued where appropriate for 
staff who are absent for more than 4 weeks.  This must be confirmed in writing 
to the employee, clarifying that 3 formal warnings in a rolling 12 month period 
may result in dismissal.

12.3 Termination of Employment – Long Term Sickness absence
12.3.1. Where it is established through medical opinion that there is no possibility of 

the employee returning to work within a reasonable period of time and/or 
where none of the previous options are appropriate, or 3 formal sickness 
absence warnings in a 12 months period have been issued, the employee’s 
contract may be terminated.  During the consultation process, if the employee 
disagrees with the medical opinion, he/she should be given a reasonable 
opportunity to obtain a second opinion.  They will be responsible for any cost 
involved and must make the resulting report available to the Council if it is to 
be taken into account.

12.3.2. During the consultation process, the employee must be given time to 
consider the various options.  For the individual concerned it is a potentially 
traumatic process and needs to be handled with sensitivity and compassion.

12.3.3. If termination of employment on grounds of incapacity is given, notice will 
be based on full pay, even if the sick pay entitlement is exhausted, or pay in 
lieu of notice may be given (N.B. Dismissal may take place before sick pay 
expires).

12.3.4.  Employees have a right of appeal against termination of employment on 
health grounds and must be advised of that right.  Any appeal must state the 
detailed reason to the Managing Director within 10 working days of receipt of 
the letter confirming the decision. 

Page 33



Worcester City Council

Page 12 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

Page 34



Worcester City Council

Page 13 of 13
3.1.18 v0.1

 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure

13 Appendix 1

13.1 Recording Sickness Absence Procedure 

Firstcare has been contracted to manage absence reporting on behalf of Worcester 
City Council with effect from 1 April 2018.

Employee notifies medical & 
non medical absences by 

phoning Firstcare on 0333 
321 8197 by 9:30am or half 
an hour before the start of 
the shift for the first day of 

absence 

Firstcare notify 
the Council of the 

absence

 Employees must provide 
Doctors ‘Fit notes’ to People 
Services to cover for sickness 

absence of more than 7 
calendar days or immediately 
before or after annual leave

Employee calls Firstcare on 
0333 321 8197 to notify the 

end of their absence up to 24 
hours prior to return to work.

Firstcare notify 
the Council of the 

end of the 
absence

Manager holds a Return 
to work meeting with 

employee & completes 
the relevant form

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Pensions Discretion/Version 0.2 1 Author: A Darbyshire

Report to: Personnel and General Purposes Sub Committee  – 28 February  2018

Report of: Head of People Services 

Subject: PENSIONS DISCRETION POLICY

1. Recommendation

1.1 That this revised policy on Pensions Discretions is approved by the Committee.

2. Background

2.1 At a recent meeting of the Personnel and General Purposes Sub Committee, 
members had occasion to review the Council’s Pension Discretions Policy.  As part of 
their duty to keep our pensions discretions under review they agreed the policy 
should be amended to make it clear that they would consider requests from 
employees to transfer pension benefits into the Worcestershire Local Government 
Pension Scheme beyond the normal 12 month limit in cases of exceptional 
circumstances.

2.2 Accordingly an amendment to the policy has been prepared (Appendix 1).  The 
relevant statement is in section 3.2 c and reads ‘The Council will extend the 12 
month period: where the member is able to demonstrate that there are exceptional 
circumstances which may justify the extension of the 12 month period.’

2.3 This Proposal has consulted on with the trade unions and agreed by the Joint 
Consultative  and Safety Committee.

3. Preferred Option 

3.1 To adopt this revised policy so that we can exercise this discretion in appropriate 
circumstances.

4. Alternative Options Considered

4.1 Not revising the policy was considered and disregarded on the basis that having 
varied the policy once on the grounds of exceptional circumstances it would be 
appropriate to explicitly allow for this in other potential cases.

5. Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
It is possible that such decisions may add pension strain costs in cases of 
redundancy of exit on grounds of efficiency, but the number of times late transfer 
will be requested is considered to very small.

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



Pensions Discretion/Version 0.2 2 Author: A Darbyshire

We are required to have and keep under review our Pensions Discretion Policy.

5.3 Risk Implications
There is a risk that the outcome of any exceptional decisions being made to allow 
certain employees additional benefits could be open to a gender/age based 
discrimination challenge. 

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
There are links within this policy to the Councils redundancy policy which remains 
consistent throughout.

5.5 Equality Implications
There are potential risks (such as sex/age discrimination) dependant on what is 
agreed on issues such as flexible retirement.

5.6 Human Resources Implications
Any exceptional agreements made outside the core policy could have age/gender 
based discrimination repercussions.

5.7 Health and Safety Implications
None Identified.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, Telephone 01905 72042
                                      Email mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers: None 

Page 38



Page 1 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

                                        Appendix 1

Worcester City Council

PENSIONS 
DISCRETION POLICY
Title Pensions Discretion Policy
Status Approved
Document Version V1.0
Author Alison Darbyshire
Sponsor Mark Edwards
Owner Human Resources
Approved by Personnel & General Purposes 

Committee
Approved date 25 January 2017
Review frequency Bi-annual
Next Review: 2019

Version History
Version Date Description

0.1 26 February 2016
0.2 5 March 2016
0.3 19 August 2016 Update following 

advice from Pensions
0.4 24 November 2016 Updated CMT to CLT
0.5 16 January 2017 Updated to show 

approval by JCSC on 
12.1.17

0.6 14 November 2017 Ammended at 3.2c to 
reflect P&PG deicision 
on 13.11.17

Page 39 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



Page 2 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

1 Introduction .....................................................................................3

2 Summary of the key pension policy discretions to be exercised................3

2.1 Voluntary funding of additional pension via a Shared Cost Additional 
Pension Contribution (SCAPC) contract.................................................3

2.2 Flexible retirement ............................................................................3

2.3 Waiving all or part of any actuarial reduction ........................................5

2.4 Award of additional pension (at whole cost to the employer) ...................5

2.5 The 85 year rule ...............................................................................6

3 Other Policy decisions under the LGPS..................................................7

3.1 Shared-cost Additional Voluntary Contribution (SCAVC)..........................7

3.2 To allow a scheme member to transfer other pension rights into the LGPS 
if they have not made such an election within 12 months of joining LGPS .7

3.3 Extending the time limit for aggregating deferred benefits ......................8

3.4 The allocation of pension bandings ......................................................8

3.5 Include regular lump sum payment based on previous 12 months for 
‘assumed pensionable pay’ calculation in specified circumstances ............8

4 Summary of the discretions to be exercised under the Local Government 
(Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2006..............................................................9

4.1 Policy for redundancy compensation...................................................10

4.2 Policy for efficiency compensation......................................................10

5 Summary of the discretions to be exercised under the Local Government 
(Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 ............10

5.1 Policy.............................................................................................11

6 GENERAL........................................................................................11

6.1 Consultation ...................................................................................11

6.2 Effective date of change ...................................................................11

6.3 Non-fettering of Discretions, etc ........................................................11

Page 40



Page 3 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

1 Introduction
All employers participating in LGPS must prepare, publish and keep under 
review policies on their Employers’ Pension Discretions. 

The LGPS Regulations 2013 stipulate this requirement in four areas, namely:

1. Voluntary funding of additional pension via a Shared Cost Additional       
Pension Contribution (SCAPC) contract, either by regular ongoing contribution 
or one-off lump sum;

2. Flexible retirement;
3. Waiving all or part of any actuarial reduction; and
4. Award of additional pension (at whole cost to the employer).

The 85 year rule: The LGPS (Transitional Provisions and Savings) Regulations 
2014 also require that employers have a policy on whether to agree to apply 
the 85 year rule to a scheme member wishing to voluntarily draw (non-flexible 
retirement) benefits on or after 55 and before age 60. 

1.1 The general principle underpinning this policy is that the Council will not 
approve any policy discretion in respect of pensions unless there is a clear 
business case that demonstrates that such proposals will be self financing to 
the Council.

2 Summary of the key pension policy discretions to be exercised

2.1 Voluntary funding of additional pension via a Shared Cost Additional 
Pension Contribution (SCAPC) contract

Whether, where an active Scheme member wishes to purchase extra annual 
pension of up to £6,675 (figure at 1 April 2015) by making Additional Pension 
Contributions (APCs), to (voluntarily) contribute towards the cost of purchasing 
that extra pension via a Shared Cost Additional Pension Contribution (SCAPC) 
[regulations 16(2)(e) and 16(4)(d) of the LGPS Regulations 2013] 

Policy
The Council will not contribute to voluntary funding of a shared cost additional 
pension contribution (SCAPC) contract at this time.

2.2 Flexible retirement
Ability under Regulation 30 (6) LGPS 2013 to grant flexible retirement for staff 
aged 55 or over and, if so, 

Page 41



Page 4 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

2.2.1 Whether to permit the member to choose to draw some, or all, of their 
accrued pension benefits

Policy
a) The Council will consider requests on business grounds in accordance with the 

needs of the service and based on the business case put forward. Flexible 
retirement will only be agreed where it is in the interests of the Council to do 
so.

b) Requests for flexible retirement will normally only be considered where the 
request is for a reduction of at least 50%.  However the criteria for 
consideration is firstly to provide a good business case to support the request 
and secondly the reduction in hours of 50%.

c) Requests for flexible retirement will be considered from any employee wishing 
to reduce their hours/grade where the reduction relates to the employees’ 
current position or upon a transfer to any other position within the Council. 

d) The Council will retain the right when agreeing to a flexible retirement to only 
permit the Scheme member to draw part, rather than all their accrued pension 
rights.

e) Any cost will be born by the Service Area where the employee worked before 
the reduction in hours/grade. 

f) Flexible retirement may be considered for a valid medical reason where ill 
health retirement is not appropriate.

g) Any employee granted flexible retirement will not be entitled to any salary 
protection if this would otherwise normally apply.

2.2.2 Ability to waive, in whole or in part, any early payment reduction which 
would otherwise be applied to the benefits taken on flexible retirement 
before Normal Pension Age (NPA) in accordance with the LGPS 
Regulations 

Policy
Any actuarial reduction applied to the pension benefits will not be waived, in 
whole or in part, unless there is a very strong business case for doing so.

2.2.3 Approval of Flexible Retirement Requests

Policy
In order to ensure consistency in allowing flexible retirement, CLT will consider 
each request based on the business case and approve/reject as appropriate.   
However if there is a cost to the Council the approval of Personnel and General 
Purposes is required.

Page 42



Page 5 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

Both CLT and the Personnel and General Purposes Committee would need to be 
able to objectively justify its decisions if challenged, as there are potential risks 
of claims of sex/age discrimination.

2.3 Waiving all or part of any actuarial reduction 
Whether to waive any actuarial reduction that would normally be applied to 
benefits which are paid before Normal Pension Age.

Benefits will be subject to the actuarial reduction (if any) applicable under the 
LGPS Regulations. The Council can waive any actuarial reduction (this is no 
longer limited to  being on compassionate grounds). The cost to the pension 
fund of waiving any actuarial reduction would have to be met by the Council.

Policy
Each request to waive an actuarial reduction will be considered on its own 
merits by the Personnel and General Purposes Committee. The Committee will 
require full details of the exceptional circumstances. 

2.4 Award of additional pension (at whole cost to the employer)
Power under Regulation 31 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 for an Employer to 
award additional pension either by regular ongoing contribution or one-off lump 
sum.

The resolution must be made while the member is active, or if the member has 
been made redundant or retired on the grounds of business efficiency – within 
6 months of them leaving.

For April 2015 the additional pension limit is £6,675 and will be reviewed each 
subsequent 1 April.

The cost of granting any extra membership would have to be met by the 
Council either, by agreement with the Pension Fund administering authority, by 
the payment of a lump sum into the Pension Fund or by paying increased 
employer contributions to the Fund. 

The payment of a lump sum into the Pension Fund, or the agreement to pay 
increased employer contributions, would have to be made within one month of 
the date of the resolution to grant extra membership or such longer period as 
the administering authority and the Council agree. 

Increased pension contributions for:

2.4.1 An active member

Policy

Page 43



Page 6 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

The Council will only award extra membership to an active Scheme member in 
rare and exceptional circumstances when it is deemed absolutely necessary as 
an inducement to attract and / or retain an employee who has specialist skills 
and experience required by the Council.

There is a risk that the Council could be open to challenge under the Equality 
Act 2010 on age or gender discrimination grounds (as those not in the Pension 
Scheme tend to be younger employees and part-time female workers). 
Therefore the Council will not make use of the provision to grant Scheme 
members additional annual pension unless different treatment can be 
objectively justified.

2.4.2 A member who was an active member who was dismissed under 
redundancy or business efficiency.

Policy
When terminating employment on the grounds of redundancy or efficiency the 
Council may make a discretionary lump sum compensation payment where it 
can be demonstrated that such a course of action is in the interests of the 
Council in achieving economic and operational benefits. The maximum payment 
in any individual case shall not exceed the payment that would have applied in 
a redundancy situation.

2.5 The 85 year rule
Rule of 85

The Rule of 85 is satisfied if the scheme members age at the date they draw 
their benefits and their scheme membership add up to 85 or more (part years 
are ignored). If they are part-time, their membership counts towards the rule of 
85 at its full calendar length.  To have Rule of 85 protection members must 
have been an active member of the LGPS on 30 September 2006. 

If their benefits are deferred the rule is satisfied if their age at the time they 
draw their benefits and the membership they would have had in the LGPS (if 
they had stayed in the scheme between the date of leaving and the date 
they draw their benefits) add up to 85 or more (part years are ignored). 

The LGPS (Transitional Provisions and Savings) Regulations 2014 require that 
employers have a policy on whether to agree to apply the 85 year rule to a 
scheme member wishing to voluntarily draw (non-flexible retirement) benefits 
on or after 55 and before age 60. The 85 year rule does not automatically apply 
if the employee decides to voluntarily draw (non-flexible retirement) benefits on 
or after age 55 and before age 60 but the employer can agree to apply the 85 
year rule. If the employer does apply the 85 year rule, the employer would 
have to meet any strain on Fund cost (as under the 2008 Scheme). If the 
employer does not apply the 85 year rule, the scheme member would meet any 
strain on Fund cost via an actuarial reduction applied to their pension. However, 

Page 44



Page 7 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

the employer has discretion to waive actuarial reductions (at cost to the 
employer).

Policy

The Council would not normally apply the 85 year rule, (so the scheme member 
would meet any strain on fund via an actuarial reduction applied to their 
pension) unless there are special grounds to justify this. Any exceptions to this 
will be considered on its merits by the Personnel & General Purposes 
Committee.

3 Other Policy decisions under the LGPS

There are a number of other discretions which Scheme employers may exercise 
under the LGPS Regulations 2013. There is, however, no requirement to have a 
written policy in respect of these but there are five in respect of which it would 
perhaps be appropriate for Scheme employers to have a written policy in order 
that members can be clear on the employer’s policy on these matters. They 
are: 

3.1 Shared-cost Additional Voluntary Contribution (SCAVC)
Whether, how much, and in what circumstances to contribute to a shared-cost 
Additional Voluntary Contribution (SCAVC) arrangement entered into on or after 
1 April 2014 [regulation 17 of the LGPS Regulations 2013] 

Policy
The Council will not contribute to a shared cost AVC arrangement at this time.

3.2 To allow a scheme member to transfer other pension rights into the 
LGPS if they have not made such an election within 12 months of 
joining LGPS
Whether, with the agreement of the Pension Fund administering authority, 
to permit a Scheme member to elect to transfer other pension rights into 
the LGPS if he / she has not made such an election within 12 months of 
joining the LGPS [regulation 100(6) of the LGPS Regulations 2013] 

Policy

The Council will extend the 12 month period:

a. where the member asked for transfer investigations to be commenced 
within 12 months of joining the LGPS but a service credit has not been offered 
to the member within 11 months of joining the LGPS. The time limit for such a 
member to make a formal election to transfer pension rights into the LGPS will 
be extended to one month beyond the date of the letter issued by the Pension 

Page 45



Page 8 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

Fund administering authority notifying the Scheme member of the service credit 
the transfer will buy in the LGPS;

b. where the member is initially appointed on a fixed term contract for a 
period of a year or less and the contract is subsequently extended to a period of 
greater than one year. Such a member may request transfer investigations to 
be commenced within 3 months of the written notification of the contract 
extension or within 12 months of joining the LGPS, whichever is the later and 
may make a formal option for the transfer to proceed within one month of the 
date of the letter issued by the Pension Fund administering authority notifying 
the Scheme member of the service credit the transfer will buy in the LGPS or 
within 12 months of joining the LGPS, whichever is the later.

c. where the member is able to demonstrate that there are exceptional 
circumstances which may justify the extension of the 12 month period.

3.3 Extending the time limit for aggregating deferred benefits
Whether to extend the 12 month time limit within which a Scheme member 
who has a deferred LGPS benefit in England or Wales following the cessation of 
employment (or cessation of a concurrent employment) after 31 March 2014 
may elect not to have the deferred benefits aggregated with their new LGPS 
employment (or ongoing concurrent LGPS employment) if the member has not 
made an election to retain separate benefits within 12 months of commencing 
membership of the LGPS in the new employment (or within 12 months of 
ceasing the concurrent membership) [regulations 22(7) and (8) of the LGPS 
Regulations 2013] 

Policy
The Council will extend the 12 month time limit for aggregation of LGPS 
membership where the member is initially appointed on a fixed term contract 
for a period of a year or less and the contract is subsequently extended to a 
period of greater than one year. Such an active member may opt to aggregate 
LGPS benefits within 3 months of the notification of the contract extension or 
within 12 months of joining the LGPS with the Council, whichever is the later.

3.4 The allocation of pension bandings

How the pension contribution band to which an employee is to be allocated on 
joining the Scheme, and at each subsequent April, will be determined and the 
circumstances in which the employer will, in addition to the review each April, 
review the pension contribution band to which an employee has been allocated 
following a material change which affects the member’s pensionable pay in the 
course of a Scheme year (1 April to 31 March) [regulations 9 and 10 of the 
LGPS Regulations 2013] 

Page 46



Page 9 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

Policy

The bandings are normally allocated based on the annual rate of contractual 
pay and is reviewed based on the actual pay.

3.5 Include regular lump sum payment based on previous 12 months for 
‘assumed pensionable pay’ calculation in specified circumstances

Whether or not, when calculating assumed pensionable pay when a member is: 

- on reduced contractual pay or on no pay due to sickness or injury, or 
- absent during ordinary maternity, paternity or adoption leave, or paid shared 
parental leave, or during paid additional maternity or adoption leave, or 
- absent on reserve forces service leave, or 
- retires with a Tier 1 or Tier 2 ill health pension, or 
- dies in service 

to include in the calculation the amount of any ‘regular lump sum payment’ 
received by the member in the 12 months preceding the date the absence 
began or the ill health retirement or death occurred. A ‘regular lump sum 
payment’ is a payment for which the member’s employer determines there is a 
reasonable expectation that such a payment would be paid on a regular basis 
[regulations 21(4)(a)(iv), 21(4)(b)(iv) and 21(5) of the LGPS Regulations 
2013]. 

Policy
The Council will not normally include in the calculation of a scheme member’s 
assumed pensionable pay the amount of any ‘regular lump sum payment’ 
received by the member in the 12 months preceding the date the absence 
began or the ill health retirement or death occurred would need to be fair, 
equitable and justifiable.   Any exceptions to this will need to be approved by 
Personnel & General Purposes Committee.

4 Summary of the discretions to be exercised under the Local 
Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006

The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 provide that the Council 
may:

i) base a redundancy payment on an employee’s actual weeks pay where this 
exceeded the statutory weeks pay limit, and

ii) make a payment of up to 104 weeks pay (inclusive of any redundancy 
payment) where the employee is leaving for redundancy or efficiency reasons. 

Page 47



Page 10 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

In formulating and reviewing its policy under the new Discretionary 
Compensation Regulations, the Council 

i) must have regard to the extent to which the exercise of its discretionary 
powers, unless properly limited, could lead to a serious loss of confidence in the 
public service; and

ii) must be satisfied that the policy is workable, affordable and reasonable having 
regard to the foreseeable costs.

4.1 Policy for redundancy compensation

The Council will:

i) disregard the maximum statutory weeks pay figure and the redundancy 
payment will be based on an employee’s actual weeks’ pay;

ii) make a lump sum compensation payment (inclusive of any redundancy 
payment) under the 104 weeks provision by multiplying the redundancy 
payment by a standard multiplier of 1.34.

 
4.2 Policy for efficiency compensation

Apart from requiring a policy on redundancy compensation (see above) the 
Council needs to have a policy in relation to terminations on the grounds of 
efficiency of the service.  

The Council may make a discretionary lump sum compensation payment where 
it can be demonstrated that such a course of action is in the interests of the 
Council in achieving economic and operational benefits. The maximum payment 
in any individual case shall not exceed the payment that would have applied in 
a redundancy situation.

5 Summary of the discretions to be exercised under the Local 
Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) 
Regulations 2011

Under regulation 14(1) of the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) 
(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 Scheme employers (LGPS employers), 
other than admission bodies, must formulate, publish and keep under review a 
policy on: 
a) whether to make an injury award to those who sustain an injury or contract 
a disease as a result of anything they were required to do in performing the 
duties of their job and in consequence of which they: 

- suffer a reduction remuneration, or 

Page 48



Page 11 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

- cease to be employed as a result of an incapacity which is likely to be 
permanent and which was caused by the injury or disease, or 
- die leaving a surviving spouse, civil partner or dependant, and 

b) if the Scheme employer has a policy to make such payments, how it will 
determine the amount of injury allowance to be paid 
[regulations 3 to 7 of the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury 
Allowances) Regulations 2011]. 

5.1 Policy
The Council will not normally exercise it’s discretionary power to make an 
additional payment where they have sustained an injury or contracted a disease 
as a result of anything they were required to do in performing the duties of 
their job and in consequence of which they: 

- suffered a reduction remuneration, or 
- cease to be employed as a result of an incapacity which is likely to be 
permanent and which was caused by the injury or disease, or 
- die leaving a surviving spouse, civil partner or dependant

Any exceptions to this will need to be approved by Personnel & General 
Purposes Committee.

6 GENERAL

6.1 Consultation

 The Council’s discretionary policies contained in the Statement of Policy, and 
any awards under the Statement of Policy, are to be determined at the sole 
discretion of the Council. When the Council intends to consider a change or 
changes to the Statement of Policy it will give notice to the recognised Trade 
Unions but is not required to consult with them.  

 A copy of the Council’s Statement of Policy will be sent to the Pension Fund 
administering authority. 

6.2 Effective date of change

 Any change to the discretions exercised under the LGPS Regulations can take 
immediate effect from the date the Council agrees the change.

 Any change to the discretions exercised under the Discretionary Compensation 
Regulations cannot take effect until one month after the date the Council 
publishes a statement of its amended policy.

 

Page 49



Page 12 of 12

 Pensions Discretion Policy

6.3 Non-fettering of Discretions, etc
The decisions taken by the Council as a result of a report placed before the 
Personnel and General Purposes Committee will form the Council’s revised 
Statement of Policy. It should be noted that:

 the policy will confer no contractual rights; 

 subject to paragraphs 13 and 14, the Council will retain the right to change 
the policy at any time without prior notice or consultation  and 

 only the policy which is current at the time a relevant event occurs to an 
employee will be the one applied to that employee. 

Page 50



Document is Restricted

Page 51 Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 53 Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Review of Local Decisions
	03 AP 1  Local Conditions - 2018  v0.4

	6 Sickness Absence Management Policy and Procedure
	04 AP1 Sickness absence management policy 2018 v 0.3

	7 Pensions Discretions Policy
	02 AP 1 Worcester Discretions 25.1.17 v1.0

	9 Amendment on the pay structure
	01 Copy of Proposed TM1+2 rates v0.2 EXEMPT


